
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

NASHVILLE DIVISION 

 

 

ANGELICA M. LOZANO    ) 

on behalf of herself and     ) 

all other similarly situated employees,  ) 

        ) JURY TRIAL  

 Plaintiff,     )      

       ) COLLECTIVE ACTION 

v.       )  

       ) 

Low-T Centers, Inc.,     ) 

Low T Center LLC,     ) 

Low-T Physicians Services P.L.L.C.,  ) 

Low-T Shared Services, L.L.C., and,  ) 

Low-T Center of Tennessee JV, L.L.C.  ) 

       )  

 Defendants.     ) 

 

 

COMPLAINT  

 

For her Complaint against Defendants Low-T Centers, Inc. (“LTCI”), Low T Center LLC 

(“LTCLLC”), Low-T Physicians Services, P.L.L.C. (“LTPS”), Low-T Shared Services, L.L.C. 

(“LTSS”), and Low-T Center of Tennessee JV, L.L.C. (“LTCT”) (collectively “Defendants” or 

“Low-T Center”), Plaintiff Angelica M. Lozano (“Plaintiff” or “Ms. Lozano”) states as follows: 

1. Ms. Lozano is a former employee of the Defendants and brings this action on behalf 

for equitable relief and damages for unlawful discrimination, harassment, and retaliation in 

violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.). 

2. Ms. Lozano also brings this action as a collective action in accordance with 29 U.S.C. 

§ 216(b) of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) against the defendant on behalf of herself and 

all others similarly situated because of Defendants’ unlawful deprivation of plaintiffs' rights to 

overtime compensation and/or the failure to pay overtime compensation at the appropriate rate.  
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Plaintiff seeks compensation damages, equitable and other relief available under the FLSA, as 

amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.  (COUNT II). 

3. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

as this is a civil action and Plaintiff’s claims arise under laws of the United States.   

4. Plaintiff has complied with all conditions precedent to the filing of her claims pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. § 2000e (5), to wit: she filed a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) within 300 days of the unlawful employment practice 

[Attached as Ex. 1].  The EEOC issued Plaintiff a Notice of the Right to Sue [Attached as Ex. 

2], and this action was commenced within 90 days of receipt of the EEOC’s Notices of the Right 

to Sue. 

5. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) as a substantial part of the events 

giving rise to this action occurred within this District and Defendants are either located, reside, or 

do business in this District.  

6. Plaintiff is a resident of Sumner County, Tennessee and was employed as a non-

exempt employee of Defendants at its Hendersonville location from her initial hire date through 

her unlawful termination on or about February 23, 2016. 

7. Plaintiff worked at the Low T Center located at 1531 Hunt Club Blvd Suite 320 

Gallatin, Tennessee 37066. 

8. Defendant LTCI is a corporation with its principal office at 1920 East State Highway 

114, Southlake, Texas 76092. LTCI does business as The Low-T Center.  LTCI is not registered 

to do business in the State of Tennessee but operates in the State as Low-T Center or Low-T 

Centers.  Its registered agent for service of process in Texas is Moraine & Associates, P.L.L.C., 

60 Village Lane, Suite 110, Colleyville, TX 76034.  At all times relevant hereto, LTCI was 
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Plaintiff’s employer, as well as the employer of hundreds of other employees at its 47 or more 

centers across the United States. 

9. LTCLLC is a limited liability company with its principal office at 1920 East State 

Highway 114, Southlake, Texas 76092. LTCLLC is not licensed to do business in the State of 

Tennessee but operates and does business within the State as The Low-T Center or Low-T Centers.  

Its registered agent for service of process in Texas is The Moraine Firm, 60 Village Lane, Suite 

110, Colleyville, TX 76034.  At all times relevant hereto, LTCLLC was Plaintiff’s employer, as 

well as the employer of hundreds of other employees at its 47 or more centers across the United 

States. 

10. LTPS is a professional limited liability company with its principal office at 1920 East 

State Highway 114 Southlake, Texas 76092-6510.  LTPS is not registered to do business in the 

State of Tennessee but nevertheless does business in Tennessee as The Low-T Center or Low-T 

Centers.  Its registered agent for service of process in Texas is The Moraine Firm, 60 Village Lane 

Suite 110, Colleyville, TX 76034.   At all times relevant hereto, LTPS was Plaintiff’s employer, 

as well as the employer of hundreds of other employees at its 47 or more centers across the United 

States.   

11. LTCT is a limited liability company with its principal office at 1901 John McCain 

Road, Suite H, Colleyville, Texas 76034-7302.  Its registered agent for service of process is 

Northwest Registered Agent Inc., 5810 Shelby Oaks Drive, Suite B, Memphis, Tennessee 38134-

7315. LTCT does business as The Low T Center.  At all times relevant hereto, LTCT was 

Plaintiff’s employer, as well as the employer of hundreds of other employees at its 47 or more 

centers across the United States.   
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12. LTSS is a Texas limited liability company registered to do business in the state of 

Tennessee.  Its principal office is located at 1901 John McCain Road, Suite H, Colleyville, Texas 

76034-7302.  Its registered agent for service of process is Northwest Registered Agent Inc., 5810 

Shelby Oaks Drive, Suite B Memphis, Tennessee 38134-7315. LTSS does business as The Low-

T Center (“Low T Center”).  At all times relevant hereto, LTSS was Plaintiff’s employer, as well 

as the employer of hundreds of other employees at its 47 or more centers across the United States.   

13. At all times relevant hereto, Defendants have each been an “employer” within the 

meaning of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq.   

14. At all times relevant hereto, Plaintiff has been an “employee” within the meaning of 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq. 

15. At all times relevant hereto, acts in violation of federal law were committed by 

Defendants and their employees within the Middle District of Tennessee. 

16. Upon information and belief, all of the Defendants have interrelated operations, share 

common management, have centralized control of labor relations and have common ownership 

and/or financial control such that they are all integrated enterprises for purposes of aggregating 

employees and for purposes of liability.   

17. Plaintiff was subjected to daily discrimination and harassment during the time she 

worked for the Defendants.  She and other female workers at The Low T Center were treated less 

favorably than male employees and were subjected to discriminatory and harassing behavior on a 

regular basis.  

18. Shortly after Defendants hired Ken Henry to work at their Hendersonville location, 

Henry began to make inappropriate sexual comments to and to otherwise sexually harass Plaintiff 

and other female employees.   
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19. Henry also made inappropriate sexual comments to patients.  

20. Plaintiff repeatedly complained to Henry, who was her supervisor on site.   

21. Plaintiff also repeatedly complained about Henry’s sexual harassment to her boss, 

Susan Gibbons, who worked out of the Defendants’ Brentwood, Tennessee location.  

22. Rather than remedy the situation, Henry communicated to Plaintiff and the other 

female staff members that complaints must be lodged solely with him.   

23. Henry and Defendants retaliated against Plaintiff for complaining about Henry’s 

inappropriate behavior by disciplining her and terminating her employment. 

 

COUNT I – ULAWFUL EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII 

OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq.) 

 

24. Plaintiff restates and incorporates herein the foregoing paragraphs. 

25. Plaintiff was an “employee” as defined by Title VII.1 

26. Defendants were each an “employer” as defined by Title VII.2 

27. Plaintiff was subjected to a continuing and on-going campaign of harassment and 

discrimination in the workplace by Henry and other of Defendants employees because she was 

female and because she complained about sexual harassment and discrimination, in violation of 

42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq. (“Title VII”).    

28. When Plaintiff reported, objected to, and/or protested sexual harassment and 

discrimination, she was subjected to humiliation and retaliation.  When she further complained 

about that treatment her employment was terminated.   

29. Defendants failed to remedy and/or prevent harassment/discrimination on the basis of 

sex or gender. 

                     
1 See, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e (f). 
2 See, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e (b). 
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30. Defendants are vicariously liable for the harassment and discrimination perpetrated by 

Henry. 

31. Plaintiff was subjected to adverse employment actions, including but not limited to, a 

sexually hostile work environment, discipline and termination of her employment in violation of 

Title VII. 

32. Defendants conduct as described in this Complaint was willful and malicious or 

recklessly indifferent to Plaintiff’s federally protected rights, entitling her to liquidated and 

punitive damages.     

33. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful acts, Plaintiff has suffered 

and continues to suffer lost income and other privileges and benefits of employment; suffered 

and continues to suffer embarrassment, humiliation, emotional distress and mental anguish, 

anxiety, inconvenience, and loss of enjoyment of life; and has incurred and continues to incur 

attorneys’ fees, costs and litigation expenses.  

COUNT II – VIOLATIONS OF THE FLSA 

34. At all times material herein, Plaintiff has been employed by Defendants in hourly, 

non-exempt positions.   

35. Plaintiff brings this action as a collective action on behalf of herself and all others 

similarly situated in accordance with 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

36. Each Defendant is an “employer” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §203(d) and a 

“person” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 203(a).  

37. At all times material to this action, each Defendant has been an enterprise engaged in 

commerce as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(r)(1), and its annual dollar business volume has 

exceeded $500,000. 
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38. At all times material herein, each Defendant has been actively conducting business in 

the State of Tennessee. 

39. At all times material herein, Plaintiff has been entitled to the rights, protections, and 

benefits provided under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.   

40. At all times material herein, Plaintiff has worked in excess of the hourly levels 

specified in the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207.  As a result, at all times material herein, Plaintiff has 

been entitled to overtime compensation at a rate of not less than one and one-half times her 

regular rate of pay for the hours of overtime she has worked. 

41. 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) provides that employees shall be paid overtime compensation 

at a rate of not less than one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for hours worked in 

excess of 40 hours per work week.  Defendants have violated, and continue to violate, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 207(a)(1) by failing and refusing to compensate Plaintiff and other similarly situated non-

exempt employees for their hours worked in excess of 40 hours per work week at a rate of not 

less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which the Plaintiff and those similarly situated 

are employed.   

42. Defendants have deprived Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees of overtime 

compensation by failing to compensate them for the time that they spend engaged in unrecorded, 

off the clock work, designed to market or increase the patient count of Defendants’ Low T 

Centers.  These activities include but are not limited to: setting up booths at various events, 

answering emails and telephone calls from prospective patients or their spouses, and taking other 

actions to assist in increasing the sales or the patient counts at Defendants’ facilities.   

43. Defendants knew or reasonably should have known that Plaintiff and other similarly 

situated employees were engaged in these unrecorded and unpaid activities.  
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44. Such unrecorded and unpaid activities are compensable.  

45. Defendant has also deprived the Plaintiffs and other similarly situated employees of 

overtime compensation mandated under the FLSA by miscalculating the regular rate of pay at 

which overtime is paid.  Defendant has failed to include all compensation paid to Plaintiff, and 

other similarly situated employees, in their regular rates of pay for purposes of calculating FLSA 

overtime compensation.   

46. The forms of compensation excluded from the regular rate of pay are forms of 

compensation that must be included in the regular rate of pay at which overtime is paid under 

section 207(a) of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 207(a).   

47. Defendants’ failure to include these payments in Plaintiffs’ regular rates of pay violate 

section 207(a) of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 207(a).   

48. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA as alleged herein have been done in a willful and 

bad faith manner. 

49. As a result of the aforesaid willful violations of the FLSA, overtime compensation has 

been unlawfully withheld by Defendants from Plaintiff and other similarly situated persons for 

which Defendant is liable pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), together with an additional equal 

amount as liquidated damages, as well as interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and the costs of this 

action. 

50. The employment and work records for Plaintiff are in the exclusive possession, 

custody, and control of Defendants, and Plaintiff is unable to state at this time the exact amount 

she is owed. Defendants are under a duty imposed by 29 U.S.C. § 211(c) and the regulations of 

the U.S. Department of Labor to maintain and preserve Plaintiff’s, and other similarly situated 
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employees’, payroll and other employment records from which the amounts of the Defendants’ 

liability can be ascertained. 

51. Because Defendants did not maintain records of the off the clock work performed by 

Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees, Plaintiff may prove her hours worked by just 

and reasonable inference. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, premises considered, Plaintiff pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq.) and 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), prays for the following relief: 

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the named, representative Plaintiff, pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b), prays for the following relief: 

1.  that process issue against Defendant and that Defendant be required to answer 

within the time period provided by applicable law; 

 2. Back pay and damages for lost benefits for violations of Title VII; 

 3. Front pay and damages for lost benefits for violations of Title VII; 

 4. Compensatory damages for violations of Title VII; 

 5. Punitive damages for violations of Title VII; 

 6. Liquidated damages for violations of Title VII and/or the FLSA; 

 7. Attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses for violations of Title VII and/or the FLSA;  

 8. Prejudgment interest and, if applicable, post-judgment interest for violations of 

Title VII and/or the FLSA;  

9.  an order permitting this litigation to proceed as a collective action pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b); 
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10. prompt notice of this litigation, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to all potential 

members of the Collective Class; 

11. a declaration that Defendants have violated the FLSA; 

12. a declaration that Defendants’ violation of the FLSA was willful; 

13. that Plaintiff, and all others who file consents, be awarded damages in the amount 

of their unpaid wages, and an additional equal amount as liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 

§ 216(b), and/or prejudgment interest; 

14. that Plaintiff and those similarly situated be granted such other, further and general 

relief to which she or they may be may be entitled; and,  

15.  that a jury be impaneled to hear this cause of action at trial.     

       

 

  

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

       /s/ Charles P. Yezbak, III   

       CHARLES P. YEZBAK, III (#18965) 

       Yezbak Law Offices PLLC 

       Attorney for Plaintiff 

       2002 Richard Jones Road, Suite B-200 

       Nashville, Tennessee 37215 

       (615) 250-2000 

       (615) 250-2020 Facsimile 

       yezbak@yezbaklaw.com   
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